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NO UNDERTAKINGS ENTERED DURING THIS HEARING

Wednesday, September 21, 2005


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 10:05 a.m.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you.  This is the second day of what is, in effect, a motions exercise related to Board file number EB-2005-0449.  Yesterday the parties retired to attempt to resolve or narrow the differences between them.  My understanding is that, while there were frank and open discussions, a resolution of issues was not the product of yesterday's discussion.  

     MR. PENNY:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We are now in a position, I suppose, where we will hear submissions on the two questions that form the basis of the Board's notice of application.  With respect to question number 1, while I acknowledge, Mr. Penny that you have not abandoned that point in your materials, I am not expecting we're going to hear a great deal about question number 1.  I would expect parties are going to be focussing largely on question number 2.  

I would just ask parties, when they're doing that, to keep in mind the context in which this application occurs.  There is a -– they are explicitly outlined in the materials, there are some time issues surrounding this.  So that indexing options that carry with them significant evidentiary preludes or processes may not be practical of implementation.  I just want parties, as they're addressing these issues, to keep that in mind.  That certainly is a consideration, or may be a consideration as we look at this.  

     Are there any submissions this morning?  Preliminary matters or ...


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, if I might, Jim Gruenbauer for the City of Kitchener.  Mr. Ryder, unfortunately, can't appear today.  So with your permission, if I could deliver our submissions, that would be appreciated. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That would be fine.  

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Any other preliminary issues?  

     Mr. Penny. 

     MR. PENNY:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.  As you noted, yesterday, although the parties made good faith efforts and indeed some progress, in the end there was no consensus on some of the key issues with respect to a possible resolution.  

     What became clear, however, was that Union's alternative proposal put forward in response to the Board's notice of application or to the questions in the notice of application was controversial and was opposed.  It is, however, Union's current intention to pursue the index-based rate-adjustment mechanism as an alternative proceeding in this proceeding, settlement or no.  

Of course, since the matter is opposed, there will obviously have to be some form of due process for the applicant and the intervenors, as you alluded to this morning, Mr. Chairman.  

     To this end, I have been instructed to advise the Board that Union intends to amend its application to the Board to provide for the alternative rate setting approach outlined in our written submission and to file supplementary evidence which would simply describe the proposal that is in the written submission and attach the Ontario CPI forecasts.    

     We expect that we would do that in a matter of days, perhaps even by the end of the week, certainly at the very first of next week.  But it wouldn't involve any new "evidence" so to speak, other than anything we have already said on the topic. 

MOTION:


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. PENNY:


MR. PENNY:  With that in mind, I then propose to make submissions on behalf of Union in response to the Board's two questions.  Of course, the notice of application of August 26th indicated that at this oral hearing on procedural matters the applicant and registered intervenors should be prepared to address two questions.  And the two questions were:  Whether the material filed by Union in its initial application formed a sufficient evidentiary basis on which to evaluate the company's revenue requirement for 2006. And the second question was: If not, what alternative approaches could be used to determine an appropriate rate adjustment, if any, for 2006, indicating that the Board is seeking comment on potential options for indexing existing rates before 2006.  

     Last week, as you know, Union served and filed a written response to the two questions posed by the Board.  This resulted from Union's belief that providing the Board and the intervenors with the basics of Union's response would expedite matters of this hearing and enable parties to focus on the key issues.  Obviously, Union believes that there are alternative approaches that could be used to set rates in 2006, and that there is potential for indexing existing rates as one means of doing so.  

     But just dealing briefly with question 1.  Union advised the Boards and intervenors of record in its recent proceedings in April that it anticipated a substantial revenue deficiency in 2006, and was seeking a rate increase effective January 1, 2006.  The present application was filed January 29, 2005, and as the evidence filed in support of Union's application made clear, there was no detailed cost-of-service forecast for 2006.  Rather, financial schedules were prepared showing Union's forecast at the level of detail normally provided to the Board through its quarterly monitoring forms and to the company's management for quarterly reporting purposes.  

     As is discussed in more detail in the evidence, the reasons for this, the reasons that there was not a traditional detailed cost-of-service presentation, were essentially limited resources, timing and regulatory priorities, as Union was devoting its principal efforts to a full cost-of-service filing for 2007 and to various other regulatory initiatives mandated by the Board.  These included such things as the natural gas forum, GDAR, 

Dawn-Trafalgar expansion, the affiliate relationship code compliance and the 2006 to 2008 DSM plan, to name but a few.  

     In its evidence, Union acknowledged that the approach used for its 2006 rate adjustment should not be viewed as a precedent for future rate applications, and that it was unique to the circumstances presented by this confluence of Board-mandated initiatives.  

     But Union noted that under section 36(3) of the Act, the Board had the power to set rates in a variety of ways, that provision provides in approving or fixing just and reasonable rates, the Board may adopt any method or technique it considers appropriate.  The question, of course, is one of sufficiency of evidence.  

The 2006 financial forecast provided was prepared as part of the 2005 budget process by Union.  The revenues were updated in the March/April time frame to reflect current expectations identified during the 2006 budget process.  But it, of course, was not prepared in the level of detail traditionally prepared to support revenue requirement cost-of-service rate filings and that detail simply doesn't exist and consequently can't be provided.  

     I would note, however, that the submission does not ask the Board to approve any changes in methodology or policy and no rate structure changes have been proposed.  I would also note that, as the evidence indicates, Union included a 1 percent productivity gain in its 2005 O&M forecast to reflect -- 2006 O&M forecast, excuse me, to reflect the company's contribution to manage market-imposed cost increases.  

So it is not the norm, clearly, but the mere fact that it does not conform to the norm does not disqualify it from consideration.  On this basis, Union's answered the question 1, is yes, it is a sufficient basis to set rates for 2006.   

     But as our submission indicated, Union recognized that the evidentiary support offered for the proposed rate increase was not in the same detail as is normally required for a full cost-of-service presentation.  As you noted, Mr. Chairman, there is also an issue of timing of decision in this matter, which is an important consideration.  And that gave rise to further need for Union to re-evaluate its position.

Furthermore, as I already noted, Union believes that it’s critical that the scheduling for the natural gas forum policy processes and for the 2007 cost-of-service applications by Union be preserved.  

     So in light of those concerns, it seemed to Union that if there were an acceptable index-based approach to setting rates, then the second question posed by the Board in its August 26th direction was clearly the more important one to address.     

     When Union analyzed the possibilities for an alternative approach to setting rates for 2006, it determined that there was an index-based alternative that Union could support.  Let me say at a general level that as to index-based approaches to rate setting generally, it is clear that the Board has the jurisdiction to adopt an index-based rate-setting mechanism, and the Board has, of course, acted on this jurisdiction in a number of cases.

The Board, in fact, notwithstanding the amendments to subsection 36(3) in 1998, the Board has, in fact, applied index-based methods of setting rates in the commodity context, at least even before that provision was in place.  So, in my submission, the Board, even without the amendment to section 36 in 1998, would have the power to set rates on the basis of an indexed methodology.  But any doubt about that was, in my submission, eliminated by the passage of section 36(3), which clearly would permit the Board to set rates on the basis of an indexed methodology.

Recent examples.  Union's trial three-year PBR plan, Enbridge's targeted PBR plan and Enbridge's 2004 rates application are all examples of index-based rate-setting methodologies that have been approved by the Board.
     The Natural Gas Forum report as well clearly contemplates the continuation of incentive-based rates, utilizing some kind of index-based approach, rather than annual cost-of-service reviews.
     So the Board can and has employed index-based formula as a basis -– formulae as a basis for setting rates, and in all cases, of course, the question is:  Is the Board satisfied, at the end of the day - not in the context of a procedural day but, of course, at the end of the day -- is the Board satisfied that the rates which result from an index-based approach would be just and reasonable, because that is the core jurisdiction that you have.
     In this case, Union has filed evidence, in my submission, of a prima facie revenue deficiency of $43 million resulting from a combination of forecast cost increases and revenue declines.  The most significant of the cost increases are four:  Increases in salaries and wages of what is estimated to be 4.5 percent; increases in pensions and benefit costs of some 14.8 percent; increased costs resulting from new and continued capital development; and increased costs of some $4.5 million resulting from the demographics of an aging work force and the need for Union to take proactive steps to ensure continuity of expertise and experience in Union's work force.
     The point is that whatever you may think of the sufficiency of the current evidence to support a full cost-of-service style revenue requirement based rate adjustment in the amount of 5.4 percent, as the current application provides, it is, at least, some evidence of likely cost pressures in 2006 and the likely existence of 2006 revenue deficiency.
     So altogether, apart from your disposition of -- or your own answer to question number 1, in my submission, on the issue of sufficiency for a 5.4 percent increase, it is at least some evidence of cost pressures and the likelihood of a revenue deficiency in 2006.  And as to how much, that is, of course, the subject of the indexing proposal.
     But further evidence, in my submission, of likely cost increases in 2006 is the Ontario CPI forecast itself which shows an anticipated inflation in Ontario of some 2 percent in 2006 over 2005.  I just want to make a brief correction.  The written submission says that the CPI average is 2 -- of those forecasts, the consensus average is 2.1 percent.  There was, in fact, a transposition error with one of the values, and the Bank of Montreal forecast was the one where there was a transposition error.  When you correct that and use the correct value, it actually brings the consensus forecast to 2 percent, so it is around 2 percent in actual fact.
     The principal contributors to Union's forecasts revenue deficiency - as I outlined, the salaries and pensions and those other items - are costs whose forecast increases clearly exceed the forecast for 2006 inflation.  So not only is there, in my submission, prima facie evidence of increased costs and a likely revenue deficiency, but evidence of costs whose increases substantially exceed the forecast rate of inflation for Ontario.
     So Union's alternative remedy, therefore, to set 2006 rates is to use Ontario's CPI as the principal adjustment factor for current rates.  We submit that it is a reasonable approach because it is substantially smaller than the rate increase of 5.4 percent required to eliminate the forecast deficiency.  It is objectively determined, in that it is determined by entities and powers outside the context of Union or, for that matter, intervenors in Union proceedings.  It represents cost increases which, as an Ontario-based company, Union is most likely to face.  And finally, there is, of course, precedent for it as it forms the basis of the adjustment factor approved by the Board to set Enbridge's 2004 rates.
     Union's proposal involves one other adjustment, however, to this inflationary consensus forecast index of 2 percent.  Union proposes to add the cost of the first year of its work force development and enhancement initiative.  That, as I indicated earlier, represents 4.5 million, or a .6 percent rate increase.
     The work force development program is described in the evidence in more detail at pages 23 to 25 of the evidence.  But the core of it is that Union, and the utility business generally and indeed the demographics of the Canadian economy, are characterized by an aging work force as the post-war baby boom approaches and reaches retirement.  Union's work force development program is proactive in dealing with that phenomenon to fill gaps between current and forecast work force needs, to ensure that employees have the skills and experience to fulfil customer requirements in the future for safe and reliable service.  And the all-in forecast of the cost of the first year of that program is some $4.5 million to cover the all-in cost of the necessary FTEs, or full-time equivalents, to ensure that that transition from the old to a new work force takes place.
     It is Union’s submission that the inclusion of the first year's cost of this program is both necessary and fair.  We submit it is necessary by virtue of it being dictated by the requirements to ensure that there is a properly trained work force into the future, and it is fair, in our submission, because perhaps, unlike wages and salaries or pension and benefits costs, this is not just an increase in a known historic cost but an entirely new category of costs altogether.  

So, in our submission, the work force development initiative is an important one, and Union will submit on the merits when we get to it, that it is an important and necessary initiative and appropriately recognized by a specific adjustment to 2005 rates.
     The combined effect of the inflation index and the specific adjustment that I’ve just outlined is a proposed rate adjustment under our indexing proposal of 2.6 percent.

To this, for customer protection against the potential for over-earning, Union's proposal is for the continuation in 2006 of the earnings-sharing mechanism currently in place for 2005.  This is an asymmetric earnings-sharing mechanism with no dead band under which Union would share earnings over the Board approved ROE, whatever it may happen to be for 2006 under the formula.  If there are any earnings over approved ROE, that would be shared 50/50 with customers.  And, of course, I would -- it is implicit in what I just said, but I would perhaps make it explicit that, of course, there is consumer protection against over-earning in 2005 in the form of an earnings-sharing mechanism that was put in place by the Board for the 2005 fiscal calendar year.
     So, in Union's submission, this constitutes a fair balance between the need for some rate relief to manage increasing costs and declining revenues, while at the same time protecting Union's customers if actual events turn out more positively than they are currently forecast.
     Under the proposal, under the alternative proposal, then, Union would be required to manage over half the forecast revenue deficiency of $43 million, as well as the 1 percent productivity factor that is embedded into that forecast, and, this, in our submission, is an appropriate alternative to the rate application, employing, as the Board suggested, an index-based approach for setting 2006 rates.
     Just to reiterate what I said at the outset, although there was serious consideration of one another's position yesterday, we were, of course, unable to reach common ground because our –- it is now clear that our alternative proposal, as well as our initial proposal, is controversial and contested.  It is clear that a somewhat more formal process is going to be required to deal with that alternative process.  

So as I said, to that end Union proposes to file an amended application which would seek that alternative proposal and some supplementary evidence which just simply outline the proposal and attaches the Ontario CPI forecast.  

     So that is my submission on the Board's two questions, thank you, Mr. Chair.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.  Just a question arising.  You're going to file some supplementary evidence this week sometime.  Would you contemplate a full exchange of interrogatories arising from that evidence in the normal course?  

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.  I believe it will be -- it's, of course, a very narrow issue and so one would hope that it wasn't an extended process, but I think we would foresee a form of the usual process, but tailored to the fact that we're not dealing with 20 volumes of evidence and that kind of thing.  So it would be our hope that there would be an expedited process, but, yes, a process that would entitle intervenors to make enquiry, to file their own evidence if they wanted to and then perhaps leading up to a short hearing. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  I think it would be helpful if all persons who were speaking to this issue can address that issue as well.  What evidentiary process they actually see, if they have that in mind, what process they see arising from the proposals.  

     MR. PENNY:  I would just like to emphasize that, because this idea of amending the application and filing supplementary evidence may be making peoples tummies twitch a little bit, but it is truly what we already said, it won't be anything more than that.  So we're not talking about something brand new.  It is just an encapsulation of what we say in our written submission. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's the September 15th submission?  

     MR. PENNY:  Yes.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Is there anyone who wishes to speak in favour of the September 15th formula?  I think it is most appropriate to have all of those who speak for the proposal speak in block.  Is there anyone who falls into that category?  Mr. Penny, can you advise me?  

     MR. PENNY:  As far as I know, there are no supporters, so we're in our usual spot sitting here alone.  

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Sommerville, I apologize for doing this, but as I understand Mr. Penny's submission he's going to augment -- I have to be careful in my choice of words here -- either augment the September 15th filing or convert that filing into a full-blown application.  

     I think it might be helpful if we had five minutes to consider the implications of Mr. Penny saying he is going to do that.  It may affect, certainly, the way I want to think about the issues that I have to address this morning and I wonder -- I would like certainly an opportunity to speak about that with -- certainly with Mr. Thompson who is going to take the lead on these issues.  Would that be possible, if we not take more than five minutes, Mr. Chairman?  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  The Board will adjourn until twenty minutes to.  

     MR. WARREN:  Thanks very much.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     --- Recess taken at 10:30 a.m. 

--- On resuming at 10:40 a.m.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you.  

Mr. Thompson.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Members of the Board.  As of yesterday, the intervenors agreed that I should --      

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You're having an effect on the sound system, Mr. Thompson.
     MR. PENNY:  It's usually an indication that somebody's BlackBerry is operating near the speaker.      

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If people do have those devices, if they could disable them that might be helpful.
     MR. WARREN:  Mine's off.
     MR. THOMPSON:  I don't have one.
     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Penny was looking at me in a glowering way when he said that.  I think it is Mr. Thompson's heart pacer.
     MR. THOMPSON:  No.  The microphones only go like that before someone makes meritorious submissions.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson. 

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMPSON:  

MR. THOMPSON:  Anyway, as of yesterday, the intervenors agreed that I should lead off in the expectation that I would make submissions that generally were in accordance with intervenors' wishes.  They're not intended to preclude any intervenors from supplementing or adding or taking points of view that were at variance to these submissions.
     But as of yesterday, we were preparing to address both of the questions, and we hadn't been notified by the company that it, in effect, was acknowledging that it would no longer be proceeding with the formal application that is currently before the Board, which is at tab 1 of the material.  If you read that, that is strictly and purely an application requesting relief based on an application of cost-of-service methodology.  There is absolutely nothing in it that deals with a request for setting rates based on an application of an adjustment factor.
     That proposal surfaced in Union's submissions, not in an application, but surfaced in Union's submissions that were delivered, I think it was, Friday of last week.
     Mr. Penny is, in effect, now telling you that we're not proceeding with the formal application we filed, but we're going to amend -- we're going to, in effect, seek leave to amend, that is, I think he is asking you for leave to amend that application, to convert it from a cost-of-service methodology application to an application based on a request to have rates for 2006 determined by applying an adjustment factor.  So he is, in effect, seeking leave to amend the existing application, to change it in its entirety.  

I suggest that is not an amendment.  That is really a new application.  But whether you treat it as an amendment or a new application, what he is, in effect, asking you to consider are conditions pertaining to the proposal to amend or re-file.  And his conditions, as I understand them, are:  We propose to file no additional evidence; we're going to rely on what is in the record now; and we accept that some sort of process compatible with the rules of natural justice needs to be followed.  So it is in that context that I now respond to the proposal to amend.
     In my submission, if you're going to allow this to go forward, then it should be not on the conditions Mr. Penny proposes, but on condition that there is further evidence filed to address a number of points.  

Firstly, that the base 2005 rates be adjusted to eliminate the forecast over-earnings in those rates, and I will come to the facts on which I rely for proposing that condition in a moment.  

Secondly, the rates, the 2005 rates to which the escalation -- proposed escalation factor be applied be adjusted to remove therefrom what is the 2004 embedded ROE, which is about 9.62 percent, and reflect the forecast ROE for 2006 based on an application of the Board's guidelines.
     On the basis of current long Canada forecast today, the ROE for 2006 is not 9.62 percent, but it is between 8.92, according to Union's calculations, and 8.96, according to intervenors’ calculations.  That is between 66 and 70 basis points lower.  And that factor alone makes existing 2005 rates more than -- between 11.7 and 12.6 million too high.
     The over-earnings forecast by Union in existing 2005 rates is about $14.4 million.  So you add those two numbers together, the base, in the view of intervenors, is already over $26 million too high.
     So any permission for the company to proceed with an escalation factor case, in my submission, must include directions that the base be properly adjusted.
     The other condition that you should consider, in my submission, pertains to the DCC, the demand -- whatever it is called, the delivery commitment credit.  Union's current application doesn't reflect the adjustment to that delivery commitment credit that is to go into effect on January 1, 2006.  So that has to be reflected, we suggest, in any evidence upon which a request for approval of an adjustment factor is based.
     The third thing that, in my submission, must be addressed in Union's evidence, if it intends to go this route, is evidence to demonstrate to your satisfaction why the adjustment factor that the Board determined for Union in the 0017 case, on the basis of a complete record and a thorough hashing of evidence pro and con, is no longer appropriate.  We have for Union a Board-approved adjustment factor to be applied to increase rates, and that factor includes inflation; not based on CPI, but based on GDPPI, which Union considered in that case to be the appropriate measure, less an X factor consisting of a productivity factor, stretched productivity factor of 1.4 percent, and input price differential of minus 1.1 percent.
     So if you apply that adjustment factor, which it will be -- I expect the intervenors will be taking the position that that’s the Board-approved adjustment factor, that that should not change, if that is applied, based on current circumstances, the GDPPI is about 2.2 percent, the X factor is about 2.5 percent.  That produces a negative for rate reduction when applied to the base, and so that would generate a rate decrease for 2006 over 2005, and a significant rate decrease if it is applied to a base that has been adjusted to eliminate some $26 million of headroom.
     So we suggest the evidence pertaining to an adjustment factor for Union, 2005 over 2006, must address why the previously Board-approved adjustment factor for Union is no longer appropriate.
     Those are the conditions that intervenors suggest should be imposed on Union's request to, in effect, either amend or re-file this application.
     I would like to then just give you the factual background and context from which we have derived these conditions.  You will find much of the history described in the pre-filed evidence of Union, Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1.  And the background that I am referring to really starts at page 7 of the material.  

     I just want to refresh your memories with respect to this background.  It was almost a year ago, on October 1. You can see at line 7, that Union determined and announced that it would not be seeking any increases to 2004 Board-approved rates in either 2005 or 2006.  This is Exhibit A, tab 2, page 7, line 7.  

     Now, when Union made that announcement, it provided no information showing any calculations that it had done internally which prompted it to conclude that no increases in 2004 rates, in either 2005 or 2006, were necessary.  In and of itself, that conclusion and its announcements strongly suggested that 2004 rates were materially too high.  

     Union's conclusion, not to seek rate increases in 2005 and 2006, prompted the Board to impose the asymmetrical earnings-sharing mechanism on Union for 2005.  And it's of interest, in the decision, in my submission, that's appendix D, page 9, that Union reiterated as late as the spring of 2005 that it did not intend to seek rate increases for 2006.  These are facts that demonstrate there is a material, in my submission, over-earnings situation that exists in current rates.  

     So you have an announcement in 2005, We're not seeking 

increases.  It is reiterated in the course of the process before the Board -- announcement in 2004, sorry, in the course of the process before the Board that took place in 2004 and 2005.  It's reiterated: We're not seeking an increase.  And you can see that in the Board's decision appendix B, at page 9.  

And that continuing position prompted the Board to express the expectation that Union would advise it of its position with respect to 2006 rates, which Union then did by letter dated, I think it is April 18th, 2005, which is referenced in the background section of the material.  

     In that letter, Union indicates it's going to seek a 3 percent increase in rates effective January 1, 2006.  No application, no evidence to support this request.  

     The Board responds -- so, we're now being told today well, we're now going to go back down that road.  The road saying: We're going to seek 3 percent.  The Board says: Send in an application.  They send in an application which was not for an escalation factor, it was for a cost-of-service-based revenue requirement, alleging a $43.2 million deficiency for 2005.  The Board responds with a notice of application raising two questions.  

Union then shifts grounds with the submission going back to an escalation factor approach.  And when you add it all up, they start at zero, maintain that position for about six months, shift ground, make an application for 5.4 percent -– sorry, a letter for 3 percent and an application for 5.4 percent.  Now they're back to 2.7 percent.  You have to wonder with respect to the credibility of the application, but they can proceed as they see fit.  

     What the evidence does indicate that's been filed in support of this application, and I don't believe there is any dispute on these numbers, if you go to Exhibit A, tab 2, appendix A, schedule 1, page 1, under the 2005 forecast, at line 6.  So it is column C, line 6, the company is forecasting earnings sharing of $7.2 million for 2005.  That's 50/50.  And Union, I believe, accepts that the over-earnings being forecast for 2005 on existing rates are about $14.2 million -- $14.4 million, I'm sorry.  

     As I've indicated, the ROE situation - again this is based on August consensus forecasts for 2006 - indicates a ROE of between 8.92 and 8.96 percent, which is 66 to 70 basis points below the 9.62 embedded in existing rates, which came from 2004.  And that 66 to 70 -- 62 -– sorry, 66 to 70 basis points produces an over-earnings, if you will, going into 2006.  

      This assumes that the consensus forecast in August will be the same in October, creates an over-earnings or headroom, if you will, of between 11.7 and $12.6 million.  So you add those two numbers together, the 14.4 and those other numbers, you have a base -- base rates for 2006 -- base rates in 2005 that appear to be high going into 2006, by at least $26 million.  

     So that is the evidence on which we rely to urge you to direct Union to adjust the base.  This is not an immaterial amount.  This is extremely, extremely material.  

     Now, the evidence that Union has filed with respect to the -- they didn't really file any evidence with respect to the escalation factor, that surfaced in their submissions.  But what they say is: We're going to use CPI, which they now say is 2 percent.  That's incompatible with the previously Board-approved adjustment factor, which used GDPPI.  And then they're not going to adjust that by any X factor, which is incompatible with the previously Board-approved approach.  Rather, they're going to add to it by taking an isolated component of forecast O&M costs related to this work plan initiative and gross that number up to about I guess it would be about 2.6 percent now.  

     So there is no evidence really, in my submission, to support that approach, very little in any event, and it is incompatible with the previously Board-approved amount.  So that is why we say Union must be directed to adduce evidence to address why the previously Board-approved adjustment factor is appropriate.  That factor was approved following a process that complied fully with the rules of natural justice.
     Evidence that addresses that factor, in my submission, and indicates how it applies to an adjusted base, if Union addresses that at the outset, will shorten the process in the sense that intervenors are coming from that direction.  So I am trying to, I guess, assist the evidentiary time lags if this thing is going to go ahead, as Union indicates, by suggesting, you add these conditions to what they're asking for.
     The other condition that I have suggested with respect to the DCC, I doubt that that is controversial.  That is a commitment, a Board-ordered commitment -– Board-ordered requirement that Union made -- that was made against Union in a prior proceeding and will be, I'm sure, honoured.
     So it is in the context, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Board, of those background factors that we urge you to deny the relief that Union is seeking on the conditions that it proposes, and either permit them to amend with directions, as I've indicated, or permit them to re-file with directions, as I have indicated.
     Unless there are any questions, those are my submissions in response to this new development.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  One question, Mr. Thompson, and it is really just arithmetic.  You've suggested that the prediction of the $7.2 million in earnings sharing, that, in effect, implies roughly a $14 million sufficiency.  Is that sufficiency not based on the current ROE value?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm just thinking there may be some double counting.      

MR. THOMPSON:  It's based on rates that have a 9.62 ROE in them.  If the ROE were 8. -- the deficiency would be 26 million.  Sorry, the sufficiency would be 26 million.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  But the $7.2 million in earnings sharing would be reduced somewhat by the -- if there was -- the ROE was adjusted as suggested.      

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the earnings sharing works off a fulcrum for 2005, which you established, I think, at 9.63.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  So I think you have to look at them as two separate calculations.  You ask yourself:  What is the sufficiency under the ROE fulcrum that applies in 2005, and so you get that number.  Then you ask yourself:  So what happens if -- I go into 2006 with that savings, if you will.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.
     MR. THOMPSON:  But if my 2006 rates have a ROE that is lower than the ROE embedded in existing rates, that means you go into 2006 with, if you will, another 11 and a half to 12 and a half million dollars of headroom.  So you add those two together, and that really is in excess of 3 percent, in excess of the 3 percent they were seeking in their letter.  The 43.2 million amounts to a 5.4 percent.  So 26 to 27 is 60 percent of the 43, and that takes you above the 3 percent.  

So, really, once you get the evidence in support of the -- the skimpy evidence in support of their application, you realize when they're asking for 3 percent, they're asking for 3 percent on top of 3 percent -- more than 3 percent of headroom.  So now they're asking for 2.7 or 2.6 percent on top of a substantial amount of headroom.      What the intervenors are saying is:  Take that headroom out if we’re going to go down this road, and also address the proper allocation factor.  

In terms of process, I think we rely on the EGD case where a process was followed, in terms of application, procedure order, interrogatories, and that kind of thing.  I appreciate it has to be abbreviated, but it has to be a process that complies with the rules of natural justice.
     There were a couple of other points, and maybe I should mention them because they were discussed yesterday.

There are DSM issues and there are DSM parties present.  All intervenors accept - that's a-c-c-e-p-t - the proposition that DSM -- the implications of DSM lie outside whatever order is made here today.  There is a separate process ongoing.  In accordance with the ADR agreement that was made in the 2005 case, there is concern that Union is slipping in its commitments to file the DSM plan by, I think it was, the end of September, and the DSM group would seek a direction that the information be filed no later than October 31 of 2005; in other words, some Board-ordered directives that assist in facilitating compliance with the 2005 ADR agreement.
     The other item that intervenors accept generally is that the fuel-switching topic, although it is not part of DSM, that that topic remain, in effect, an open item to be addressed in the context of this separate DSM process that is ongoing.  And that is basically a reservation of rights for all parties to raise questions about Union's fuel-switching plans and the implications of those fuel-switching plans.
     So unless there are any further questions, those are my submissions.
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Just a clarification.  The fuel-switching plan, you're saying that you agree that that should form part of the DSM part of the process?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Not part.  I'm not saying part of it, but tag along with it.      

MS. CHAPLIN:  That's where it would be dealt with.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, yes.  I think I've got that right.  Just a second.  Yes.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Warren.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN: 
     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

Mr. Chairman, Members of the Panel, in light of what Mr. Penny has said this morning, I take a somewhat different approach to this matter that is before you now than does my friend Mr. Thompson.
     As I understand what Mr. Penny has said this morning, the original application, the one for which notice was given on the 26th of August, has now been withdrawn and you have been given notice this morning that there is to be a fresh application or - I'm not sure much turns on this - an amended application for a formulaic approach.  

In my respectful submission, the threshold issue that the Board has to decide in this matter is whether or not Union should be permitted to file that application.
     My starting point is the oft-repeated proposition, that was repeated again by Mr. Penny this morning, that the Board has the authority under section 36 of its Act to fix rates in any way that it feels appropriate, and the corollary of that is that it can use, what I would term, a formulaic approach.
     The obverse of that statement is also true, that the Board can or does have the jurisdiction to say that, depending on the circumstances, it will not consider an application using a formulaic approach.  And in my respectful submission, the circumstances under which we find ourselves today are such that the Board should say to Union, it will not consider an application using the formulaic approach.
     Now, my starting point for the analysis is the first case in which the formulaic approach arose.  I distinguish this from the PBR cases, which are arguably formulaic approaches, but they're fundamentally different in that one proceeds on the basis of a thorough testing of the cost base and then an assessment of the various and oftentimes complicated or rather complex elements of the formula.
     These formulaic cases are different.  And in my recollection, which I admit may be faulty, the first of these and the precedent to which everyone, including Mr. Penny this morning, refers is the Enbridge Gas Distribution case for its 2004 rates. 

     My point of reference, Mr. Chairman and members of the panel, is the decision of the Board in docket RP-2003-0048.  I apologize.  Late last night I didn't make a copy of this, but I can, at the next break, make a copy of this.  What it is is there is a transcript of an oral decision rendered on the 4th of September 2003.  

     By way of background, Mr. Chairman and members of the panel, the unique circumstances surrounding the Enbridge Gas Distribution case were that Enbridge had, as a result of the -- well, regulatory lag if you wish, it's nobody's fault, but it had fallen behind to the point where rate -- where rates were being set after the beginning of their fiscal period.  So there was a broad consensus, including the consensus from the Board, that Union ought to get, as it was said then, back on track.  

     So there was, if you wish, a will to engage in a process that truncated the usual application process in order to allow Enbridge to get back on track.  And if one reads the transcript on that day - and there are a number of references that I don't need to take the Board to -- is that -- I can refer you to one which appears at paragraph 40 of that.  The Board agrees a pragmatic approach was necessary for setting rates for the company in 2004.  Then the Board goes on to say that if they followed the usual cost-of-service approach, Enbridge would be significantly off-side in the sense of setting retroactive rates.  

     The significant portion of the decision appears at paragraph 69 of the transcript.  Where the Board says - and actually begins on the preceding paragraph 68 -- it says:   

“Having accepted the partial settlement and 

having accepted CAC's submission that a 

sharing mechanism for potential over-earnings 

in fiscal 2004 isn't needed, the Board wishes to 

make two points about this proceeding.  First, 

the rate-setting methodology that the Board 

has accepted in this case is unique, and it is 

recognized by the Board as arising from need to 

get EGDI back on track with its regulatory 

schedule.”  

     I underscore the following sentence.

“It is not intended that the acceptance of this 

methodology in this proceeding should be relied 

upon by utility applicants as an indication that 

the Board will routinely accept such proposals in 

the future.”  

     So if EGD's decision is a precedent, it's a precedent not just for the formulaic approach, but for the limited function of that.  It is a special circumstance.  

     Now the next point of reference, Mr. Chairman and members of the Board, is the decision of this Board dated December 15th, 2004 in Union's last application, that is the application to set 2005 rates.  On page 8 of the decision, the Board says the following: 

"The Board accepts Union's position that there is 

no rearment, legal or otherwise, to file an 

annual rate application.  However, the Board has 

a responsibility to ensure that the rates charged 

are just and reasonable.  Union is currently 

under a cost-of-service regulatory regime.  

Union's attempt to manage its business without a 

rate change is laudable, but under cost-of-

service regulation the Board must also exercise 

its responsibility in the public interest.  

Union's argument that the rates were set less 

than a year ago is of some merit, but that rate 

setting review did not contemplate a longer 

period of time than the 2004 test year.  

In the absence of a longer test period review,

the Board is concerned with the lack of 

supporting evidence which would allow the Board 

to make any reasonable determination on 

appropriateness of the revenues that Union 

projects it will recover in 2005." 

     Now, almost exactly a year later, nine months later, the Board finds itself in not only the same position but arguably in a worse position, because we're now nearly two years away from a detailed assessment of the costs and revenues.  According to what Mr. Penny tells us this morning, you're not going to get that in this case.  

     So the risks which the Board recognized nine months ago have, if you wish, increased, and I submit with respect, exponentially.  

When we say, as all of us do so casually, that the 

Board has the jurisdiction to adopt a different approach from cost-of-service, we should add the qualification that we are under a cost-of-service regime.  That a cost-of-service regime, with all of its frailties, contains elaborate and complex mechanisms to protect everyone's interests, including the Board's interest in ensuring that the rates are just and reasonable based on a thorough review of cost and revenues.  And to the extent that we get away from that review, that we attenuate the analysis over time, we increase the risks.  And in my respectful submission, that is precisely the circumstance we find ourselves in today.  

So the Board has the jurisdiction, I say with respect, to say I'm sorry, Mr. Penny and Union, we will not consider a formulaic approach in light of the circumstances which I have just highlighted.  

     Now, the question then is:  Has Union made -- the question which I submit the Board ought to ask:  Has Union made a prima facie case that a formulaic approach is required in the circumstances and is appropriate in the circumstances?  And in my respectful submission, it has not done so.  We can spend hours fussing over what the appropriate formula ought to be, but in my respectful submission, that misses the point.  The point is there ought not to be any formula at all.  

     In its original evidence, original application, Union said, as I recollect it and this is my paraphrase of it, that it was following other priorities in 2006 and that following those other priorities precluded it from filing a 2006 cost-of-service application.  

     That evidence is now apparently been withdrawn with the application.  My point is simply this:  Is there prima facie evidence that the Board should accept a formulaic application of Union?  And I say there is no prima facie evidence that it should.  

In making these submissions I acknowledge that any regulator takes the risk when it says we're not going to accept a certain kind of application, because that raises the spectre of a threat to the rules of natural justice.  But the Board has the authority to say that in a cost-of-service regime there is a de minimus standard of the kind of information that we need to protect the public interest and ensure that they're just and reasonable rates.  And that de minimus standard requires that, absent unique and special circumstances, we want a full cost-of-service review.  There is no evidence those circumstances obtained in this case.  

     In my respectful submission, what the Board ought to indicate to Union is that it is not prepared to consider a formulaic approach of the kind contemplated by Mr. Penny, and then Union can decide, as it is free to decide, what relief it wants.  

     Those are my submissions.  Thank you very much.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No questions from the Board, Mr. Warren.  

Mr. Shepherd.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I think Mr. Dingwall is going to go ahead.  Now he has changed his mind.  Okay I'll go next.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will break at 12 sharp today.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I have convinced Mr. Dingwall that I won't take till 12 o'clock.  


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me start with just a couple of pieces of background.  It was February 7th of this year that Mr. Penny, in reply submissions in a hearing, made clear, and I quote, "Union does not currently plan to do an ‘O6 case."  I'm going to come back to that in a second because it sort of forms the centre piece of our submissions.  

     However, on April 18th in response to the Board's March 18th decision, Union, in stating its position on 2006 earnings sharing said, And oh by the way -- this is in a letter, Oh, by the way, can we please have another 3 percent?  And they tried to camouflage it by saying it was the starting point for 2006 earnings sharing, but in fact it was a letter saying, can we have a rate increase based on the letter.  They provided no evidence.    

     So all of the ratepayer groups, somewhat understandably, frothed at the mouth a bit and opposed that letter application.  And the School Energy Coalition on May 2nd wrote a letter, and the reason I am referring to this specifically is that we said then, and we continue to say, that if what Union wants is a type of “back on track” application, then there is a way to do it.  

And while it may still not be appropriate in this case, there are minimum requirements to do that, and we outlined what we thought, in that letter, what we thought they had to do at a minimum to file a back-on-track application.  I am going to come back to that in a second.  That was on May 2nd.  

On May 9th - and I just point this out to the Board because it's going to be relevant later and I think in some other people’s submissions – Duke, which is Union's parent, and Cinergy merged, and, in the course of that merger, announced publicly that there would be some amount of ratepayer savings - I think the number was $400 million - as a result of the economies out of the merger.
     On May 27th, the Board said, Union, if you want a rate increase, you have to file an application; we can't give you a rate increase with a letter.  And so on July 29th - I point out that is two months later - Union files an application seeking 5.4 percent rather than the 3 percent they just asked for a few months earlier, and, again, no evidence.  This is an evidence-free application.
     So that brings us to last week when Union says:  Oh, no, no, no, no, we’ve changed our mind; we don't want 5.4 percent any more, now we want 2.7 percent, and we want it structured as indexed, which I understood their letter, in fact, last week to be, in effect, an amendment of their application.  I have been approaching it on the basis that they've already amended their evidence.  They have just done it in, once again, a fairly unique way.  

So the reason I go through this background is this -- and I hate to do this and, you know, it is the second time this week I have said this about a utility and I have never said it before in front of this Board.  This utility is demonstrating that -- or is suggesting to the Board that it has insufficient respect for the Board's processes.  They told the Board they weren't filing, and then, later on, when the Board didn't say, Okay, no, you can't, they said, Well, you know what, let's take a shot.  But it's apparent that, from the outset, the reason why they have a time pressure is they couldn't be bothered filing.  

Now, they tell us all about these things they were doing, the Natural Gas Forum and all this sort of stuff.  Well, you know what, Enbridge is doing all those same things as well and other things, yet they managed to file a full and complete application and are in the middle of a nine-week hearing.  Now, they may not like the fact that they're in the middle of a nine-week hearing, but the fact is that Enbridge, approximately the same size, managed to get the job done.  They understood that their responsibility to the regulator was to file a proper application if they wanted a rate increase.
     But what appears to be the case here is that the utility has said:  You know, we probably don't need a rate increase, but what have we got to lose by asking?  We don't have to do any work; we don't have to file any evidence.  But let's just ask them.  Let's see what happens.  Maybe they'll give us something.
     Now, I would like you to -- and so this is -- whereas we have called -- and I think this is now part of a lexicon, Enbridge's 2004 application is routinely referred to as their back-on-track application.  Perhaps, in the future, the Union 2006 application will be referred to as their what-have-we-got-to-lose application.
     Because, as my friend Mr. Thompson pointed out, what Enbridge did in 2004 was fundamentally different than what is happening this year.  Enbridge was behind schedule not because of their own fault.  I mean, they participated in it, but it was the whole process that put them behind schedule.  There was a general consensus that they had to get back on track.  And even then, they filed an application that explained why they wanted a new process, that dealt with things like -- for example, dealt with things like commitments they had made to the Board.  They had made a commitment to review rate 6 in their next rate application.  They didn't say, Oh, we don't have time.  They did it.  They made a commitment; they stuck to it, even though they had a truncated application.  And they made sure that their DSM was filed.  There is a number of things like that in that application, because they understood that they had a responsibility, even if they were shortening the process, to get back on track, to do it properly.
     So I want to turn to my next submission, which is with respect to the impact of the company's request.  Their materials make a big point of saying, Oh, it's only, I don't know, 78 cents per residential customer per month, or something like that.  The essence of the argument is it's not very much money; let's not worry about it.
     Well, the application that we have before us discloses that the impact of a 5.4 percent rate increase is $35.5 million more.  So I am assuming that 2.7 percent -- we don't have the details yet, but I am assuming that is about $18 million.  So well, yes, it may be only 78 cents per residential customer per month, $18 million is still $18 million, and it's not something that this Board routinely hands out just because somebody asks.  Usually, this Board asks for evidence when people ask for millions of dollars.
     The second point on the impact is that, while it's true that 78 cents, or whatever the number is, per residential customer isn't very much, for the schools in the area, the impact of the original application was about a million dollars.  It looked like -- 5.4 percent would be about a million dollars, and the revised application would be about half a million dollars.  So that is not nothing.  But it turns out that is not even the right number, because -- and my friends haven't focussed on this, but if you look in their application, what they propose is to allocate the entire increase to volumetric rates.  Well, schools are in -- most of the schools are in the M2 class - not all of them but most of them.  And they’re high volume customers within the class.  In fact, one of their commitments from the 2004 case is to look at that class and fix it.  But they have told this Board, Well, sorry, we don't have time.
     But what they have proposed in this case is that they will allocate this whole increase to the volume portion of the M2 rate, and all of the other rates by the way, with the result that the volumetric increase, as they proposed, was 9.8 percent.  So as they proposed, they were going to ask the schools to pay an additional $1.8 million, with no evidence.  Now they have he revised it to 2.7 percent, but then that is really 5 percent, so it's still almost a million dollars.
     So my friend Mr. Penny says there is no change to the rate structures.  Well, I think a significant shift in the fixed variable percentage is a pretty big change in the rate structure, particularly when you have specific customer groups that are harshly affected by it.  

I mean, let’s put this in common sense terms.  What do I tell my clients, that Union didn’t want to go to the trouble of making a real rate application, but the Board has allowed them to bill you an extra million dollars anyway?  That is ridiculous.  It is just not the way this Board does business, normally.
     I'm going to turn, then, to the cost pressures they talked about, and let's keep in mind that -- and I am reminded that I have a million teenagers at home, and when they come and ask for - it seems like a million sometimes anyway - and they're constantly asking for more money for this, that, and the other thing.  And you know what, they never think of cost reductions, about things that they don't have to spend money on anymore.  They only ever think of the additional costs that, day after day, seem to arise in their hectic lives.  And this application looks to me –- it makes me think of that.  I don't know why.
     So they want an inflation increase, but then they have an aging work force.  Now, Mr. Penny admits, everybody has this problem.  All companies have this problem.  But somehow, even though all companies have this problem, it is not built -- the cost of dealing with it is not built into society's inflation rate.  Somehow they need a special increase to deal with that.  How does that happen?  If everybody has the problem, it's part of our ongoing upward costs of all of us.
     They have no discussion of increasing revenues.  Are they going to have no customer growth?  Are they going to have no growth from gas-fired generation?  Enbridge thinks they are.  What about the impacts of past customer growth?  Is that not going to increase their volumes?  

There is no evidence on that.  As my friend has pointed out, there is no evidence of the impact of changes on ROE, $11.7 million at the 66 basis points that the company admits to.
     There is no discussion of the over-earnings.  And by the way, just on the over-earnings question, I wonder if I could take you to Exhibit A, tab 2, appendix A, schedule 9.  Sorry, schedule 1 first.  A, tab 2, appendix A, schedule 1.  

     So if you have that, you will see that there is a number there for earnings sharing, $7.2 million.  That's on line 6 in 2005.  The implication is that that is half of the over-earnings for 2005.  You will note that that is in the revenue.  So that is a pre-tax number.  

     So then turn to Exhibit A, tab 2, appendix A, schedule 9, the last page in that tab, and you will see, in line 5 the other half of that, net revenue excess 7.1 million.  But that's an after-tax number, you see they have to gross it up to get their actual excess.  

     Well, if the over-earnings net is 7.1, the half, then why isn't the money that they're expecting to give back to the ratepayers on the first page also grossed up?  Well, we have no explanation for that.  

     Now, my point is, there is some over-earnings amount.  It is at least $14.4 million, we know that, but it may, in fact, be higher.  And one of the things an IR process, if we get to that, will do is run this down.  

     My friend, Mr. Thompson has pointed out there is $26.1 million, or something like that, of headroom already built into rates, the addition of the ROE and the existing over-earnings, whatever it is.  I should point out that is already the equivalent of a 3.8 percent rate increase.  If they just keep existing rates, then they're already collecting 3.8 percent more than the real revenue requirement based on 2005 actuals, or estimates.  

    And so that is $600,000 for schools, by the way.  So when I'm saying to my clients, By the way, you're going to have to pay a million dollars because Union asked for it, I’d have to say to them, You're already overpaying $600,000, they want another million.     

     All of this is to get to, What do we propose?  And I guess we're a little bit in both camps here.  So on the one hand, -- and let's assume that this additional information that we saw in a letter form last week is part of the application now, so the application has now been fixed in that way.  In our view, a rate application must meet a minimum standard of content and quality or it is insufficient to engage this Board's jurisdiction.  

     This is why, for example, the letter of April 18th didn't engage the Board's jurisdiction.  It was a letter saying, Can we have 3 percent, please?  So the Board, quite correctly, said, That's not what makes us start a process.  If you want us to start a process, file a proper application.  It's appropriate, I think, for the Board to say in this case, If you want a rate increase file a proper application now.  And that proper application doesn't mean taking their letter of April 18th and putting it into application form, which is essentially what they did,  

but rather involves them putting some evidence in place, as my friend Mr. Thompson pointed out, to deal with the base they're starting from - and they want to index it, the base they're starting from - the appropriate formula and why this one is appropriate, how they're dealing with outstanding commitments, how they're dealing with things like deferral accounts, DSM and fuel switching and other things that are important in 2006.  

     We put forward a list in our March 2nd letter -- I'm sorry, May 2nd letter on -- I won't ask you to turn to it, but we set forth the types of information they should be filing.  And we point out here that if they do that, if the Board decides to proceed to allow them to continue a process, then the Board should say, It's not enough to file your September 15th letter, file a proper evidentiary base.  It may not be full cost-of-service, maybe you don't feel you can do that, but it should be enough to engage your jurisdiction.  

     In my mind, if their application doesn't make a prima facie case that they should get a rate increase, you don't have to consider it.  

     Then you asked us to specifically talk about the process.  While I've, perhaps harshly, referred to this as a -- as not a back-on-track application, but what-have-we-got-to-lose application.  The process that was used in the back-on-track application in 2004 is, in our view, the correct one.  It follows the Board's normal process of issues list, interrogatories, ADR and oral hearing.  But it was shorter because everybody understood that they were trying to expedite the process for a particular reason.  

    And that would be the appropriate process here, and I might add, I guess, that if they have a full enough evidentiary base, that process need not take an inordinately long period of time.  

     I will point out, though, that the applicant's lateness is of its own making, not the Board's, not the parties.  Therefore, if it is not possible to get rates by January 1st, 2006 because they filed late and they filed inadequate information, then they should get new rates, whatever they are, later, not January 1st.  

     This is like foreshadowing, when it comes time when they say on March 1st, can we have these retroactive to January 1st, our answer is, No, that's not proper.  

     Finally, we have one other comment to make and that is, if it turns out that the Board wishes to consider some form of indexing and perhaps some form of increase - and understand we, like many intervenors, may well be arguing there should be a decrease if a formula is applied -- but if in the end it turns out to be an increase, it will be our position that the earnings-sharing mechanism should be reconsidered and that, to the extent that there is any rate increase, that rate increase should, if there is over-earnings up to that amount, should be 100 percent to the ratepayers, because they didn't need it in the first place.  And after that, there may be sharing.  

     Subject to your questions, those are our submissions.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Shepherd, just on that last bit about the earnings-sharing. I didn't quite understand which part would be 100 percent to ratepayers and which part would then be shared.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's say the Board ended up giving them a 1 percent rate increase, which in my mind is way too high, but let's say that, so it is $12 million, whatever that works out to be.  Then if they over-earn, as it turns out, $15 million, the first $12 million, the rate increase they didn't need after all, would go back to the ratepayers.  After that, it would then be split.  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Those are our questions.  

     Mr. Dingwall.  

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL:

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, sir.  I will keep my mind on the clock as well, given the Board's constrictions as expressed today.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. DINGWALL:  With respect to process, very briefly, CME is in support of the process that Mr. Thompson has explained and advocated with respect to this.     

     What stems from that is, then, the question of what is the fullness of information that should be filed in this Board in order to consider an application to look at that kind of relief, whether to grant it, and on what basis.  And that brings me to looking at some of the historical matters that Mr. Shepherd has described.  

     On May 11th of this year in this proceeding, CME filed a letter in response to the earlier Union Gas letter which enclosed a press release with respect to the Duke merger.  In addition to the 400 million cost saving that Mr. Shepherd referenced, there was also reference within that letter to a 5 percent reduction of work force across the combined companies.
     What is interesting, that is, in the United States, when there is a merger of a company, whether it be a public utility company or the parent of a public utility company, there is a requirement before those regulators, both on a state basis and, in some cases, before the Federal Energy Regulation Commission, that there be some form of approval process.  And in many cases, the approvals are based on keeping ratepayers harmless, ensuring that the merger is for the public good, in general, all of those sorts of things.  We don't have anything like that in Ontario, and it is generally an annual rate case in which information of that sort would come to light.
     What is curious in this particular respect is that there has been a press release from the combined entities back in May of this year indicating that there was a merger and that there would be certain efficiencies gained from that merger.  What is more interesting is that there is no reference to the merger at all in the filing by Union Gas before this Board.
     Now, given the time constraints and the other matter, I haven't had the chance to photocopy the voluminous documents that I reviewed in the context of the merger filings in some of the US jurisdictions, but I am hoping that by e-mailing them to Mr. Penny over the break, that that puts him in a position to respond, if they choose to, to some of the matters that I will make brief reference to in respect of those.
     First of all, in Ohio, where Duke-Cinergy, which will be known as new Duke Energy at one point in time, as the subsidiary Cincinnati Gas and Electric, they filed their merger filing on June 1st.  That is docket number 05-732-EL-MER, meaning electricity merger; that is the abbreviation there.  That filing itself reiterated the $400 million cost saving that they described as being across all parts of the combined companies.  That's page 11 of that application.

At page 16 of that application, there was an indication that there would be utility service agreements that would allow services -- a service company to perform services for each of the public utilities, and that there would be service agreements that would allow the utilities and non-utility affiliates to perform various services for each other.  That particular filing didn't specify what those services might be, or who those services might be provided for, to be fair.
     In South Carolina, the Duke affiliate in that jurisdiction filed its merger application on July 15th, and at page 6 of that application, they indicated that as a result of the merger: 

“... new Duke Energy will establish a service company to provide goods and services to its utility and non-utility subsidiaries, including Duke Power.” 

- which is the local subsidiary in that case -  

“The goods and services to be provided includes the following: finance, treasury, tax, accounting, legal, human resources, information systems, investor relations, public relations, maintenance planning and engineering, fuel procurement, fuel and strategic planning.  The centralized provision of goods and services through the service company will enable the utility and non-utility subsidiaries of new Duke Energy to achieve enhanced cost efficiencies and economies of scale.”

At page 10 of that document, they go on to describe that: 

“These synergies will include reduced costs resulting from the elimination of duplicative spending and overlapping functions, standardization and aggregation of external purchases of commodities and services, and the consolidation of certain operations.”

Then further in South Carolina, in Duke's pre-filed evidence, at page 14, there was the question:   

“How would the cost and benefits of the merger be realized by South Carolina retail customers?” 

The answer to which: 

“The allocations to each of Duke Power’s state jurisdictions for regulatory accounting and reporting and rate-making purposes are determined by the company's cost-of-service studies.  The actual costs and savings will be reflected in various accounts and will be allocated to the South Carolina retail jurisdiction as part of the annual cost-of-service study.”

Now, going back to the Ohio filing, at page 13 of that application, there is the statement: 

“To recognize the synergies created by the combination, there will be some short-term reductions of jobs resulting from the elimination of overlapping functions and redundant systems.  However, the anticipated reduction in work force is expected to be only about 1,500 employees, or approximately 5 percent of the existing 29,000 employees of the two separate entities.”

Now, in looking at all of that information, the question arises as to why there is no information with respect to the Duke-Cinergy merger in this case.  At the very least, an annual rate case discloses material business transactions that affect the company or its shareholder.  If we go down the road of looking at some form of indexed proceeding, it's conceivable that the company's response might be:  There are no financial implications.  If that's the case, clearly, if they're suggesting some form of increase over the 2005 base, we’d need to have that as a relevant ground for inquiry, or certainly the mechanisms through the process to canvass what's going on, what's happening where, who is doing what.  And if there are implications, then perhaps we need more information and that that should be considered within this process.
     It also begs the question, though, if there are broad statements of savings and job reductions as a result of efficiencies from the combination of organizations, why are none -- or why would none be identified for Union Gas?
     I have spoken very briefly with respect to process and the fact that CME supports the process, as espoused by Mr. Thompson.  The balance of my comments were intended to give the Board some guidance as to whether the Board chooses one of the methodologies for a further process to address Union Gas in this case, what we think some of the boundaries of relevance are, and what some of the areas of inquiry should be.  

Those are my submissions.  Thank you, sir.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

Mr. DeVellis.
     MR. POCH:  Mr. Chair, I am sure I can fit in before the noon break.      

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. POCH:
     MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, my clients have an interest in reasonable rates and reasonable rates in the process, particularly these days when we have a concern about the implications of rate levels for fuel switching, something that is of vital importance in Ontario in the present electricity capacity context.
     Ordinarily, well, we like to think some other parties place some reliance on our assisting the Board to police them on DSM, and we reciprocate and place reliance on a number of the consumer parties to ensure that rate levels are adequately -- that the evidence before you is adequately met to set rate levels.
     We weigh in on this because what we see here is a threat to the process and the ability of those other parties to play that role, in effect, on our behalf.
     We're quite concerned that the Board not be pressured into a bad precedent.  I won't repeat my friend's comments.  Certainly, I readily acknowledge that Union has a right to ask the Board to set rates on a formulaic basis, and the Board can consider that, but that does not absolve Union of the requirement to come forward with an adequate evidentiary base.
     I think you’ve heard, from what you already heard today, that there is a prima facie case that Union's evidence or submissions filed to date don't meet that standard.  And we heard Mr. Penny earlier say all he's going to do is take his submission, and, in effect, have a witness sign it so it can be tested.  But I don't believe that that can possibly be adequate as a basis for setting rates, given what is in Union's own evidence thus far, that the base is inappropriate and so on. 

That being said, we don't take a position on the -- amongst the -- as between the two remedies that have been suggested to you.  But we certainly believe that the Board must either dismiss the application, in which case Union is free to re-file if it feels it needs to, to be able to obtain just and reasonable rates, or give direction in the manner that Mr. Thompson has suggested to, in effect, salvage the present application and make it a meaningful one.  

     We simply ask that in either case -- first of all, that the Board elect between one of those approaches, or suggest that Union so elect.  And that in any event, the Board condition its dismissal or directions with the conditions Mr. Thompson outlined:  That the DSM, ADR agreement be refreshed; that the Board impose a deadline on Union in that regard of October 31st; and, that the fuel switching concerns, which are gaining increasing importance in the societal context as spoken of, be allowed to be considered in that, alongside that in the same process.  

     So those are my submissions, Mr. Chairman.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  

     Mr. Poch, we don't have any writing from you with respect to the condition that you will be seeking.  I wonder if you could be very explicit about precisely what it is you're asking the Board to include, if the Board were to make a direction of that kind.  

     MR. POCH:  That Union be required to file a DSM plan for the 2006 rate year, and at its option for a longer period, which it has indicated it so wished to do, and materials that address the commitments it made in the previous ADR agreement by October 31st.  And that Union has -- as an aside, sir, I say that Union has indicated that it intends to file a separate application in that regard.  The Board should indicate that the Board and the parties are placing reliance on that, in such that the parties such as myself can absent themselves from the balance of this proceeding, and that Union enable the consideration of fuel switching matters in that same proceeding.  

     We're just concerned if we back out of this proceeding, don't pursue the fuel switching matters here, we get there and then we get an objection from Mr. Penny saying, We're not going to file, we're not going to answer interrogatories on fuel switching, what have you.  So we want to ensure that we're not prejudiced by absenting ourselves from this proceeding.  

     Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  

     I am not going to ask anybody to squeeze their submissions into the remaining five minutes.  The Board will adjourn until 1:30.  Thank you very much.  

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 11:55 a.m. 

     --- On resuming at 1:30 p.m. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you.  

     Mr. DeVellis.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Sommerville, I believe Mr. Gibbons has asked to go first.

     MR. SOMMERVEILLE:  Mr. Gibbons. 

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. GIBBONS:

     MR. GIBBONS:  Mr. Sommerville, thank you.  My colleagues have agreed that I can go first so that I can attend a meeting of the Ontario Power Authority later today. 

     Pollution Probe’s concern with this application is simply related to the fact there is no DSM or fuel switching evidence.  It's Pollution Probe's belief that aggressive DSM and fuel switching programs are needed now and 2006 to protect customers from higher gas and electricity rates.  

     It is our understanding that, with respect to DSM, Union is proposing to file later this year their 2006 DSM plan in a proceeding of the Board, and it's our understanding that Union's proposal will be, if there is any need for a budget increase, that will be recovered through a deferral account.  

     That proposal is certainly fine with us, subject to the caveat that was made by Mr. Thompson and Mr. Poch, that we request the Board to order Union to file that DSM plan by October 31.  

     With respect to fuel switching, we support the submissions of Mr. Thompson and Mr. Poch, that the fuel switching question should be addressed as part of that DSM proceeding, even though fuel switching is not DSM.  And we would request the Board to order Union, as part of that DSM proceeding, to answer the fuel switching questions that Murray Klippenstein asked in his letter of September 16th to the Board.  And that Union be required to file that evidence as part of the DSM proceeding and that, if parties and the Board ultimately determine that a higher fuel switching budget would be in the public interest in 2006, that that proceeding will allow those costs to be recovered via a deferral account.  

     Those are our submissions, thank you.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Gibbons.  I take it that the language that Mr. Poch used would be satisfactory to your purpose as well; is that right?  

     MR. GIBBONS:  Yes.  I would just highlight the specific questions that were raised in Mr. Klippenstein's letter about what the full scope of fuel switching should be.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Gibbons.  

     Mr. DeVellis, is it your turn now?  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm happy to go next.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS: 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

     Firstly, VECC agrees with Mr. Warren that we don't believe that the company has adduced enough evidence, or any evidence, to justify moving away from a cost-of- service regime, which is the norm in this jurisdiction.  

     However, if the Board is inclined to consider an alternative proposal, we believe that the two questions asked in the notice of application cannot be severed.  In other words, we cannot even begin to consider an indexing without a vigorous examination of the base year.  

     Mr. Thompson has pointed to two factors which indicate the intervenors' belief that the base year is already inflated by about $26 million.  We agree with those submissions.  

     Also, we would point to other examples of the company's over-forecasting both their O&M budgets and their capital budgets in the past.  We do so as a way of pointing to the fact that -- rather it goes to the credibility of the company's claimed revenue deficiency, which is the basis for the application they have put before you.  

     For example, in the RP-2003-0063 cost-of-service application, the company had claimed a revenue deficiency of $110 million.  The decision of the Board was, the Board found the revenue sufficiency of $1.5 million.  

     By the way, Mr. Chair, I had submitted some documents to Board Staff and to the other parties, just by way of background for the figures that I will be referring to.  It's in compendium – 

     MR. SCHUCH:  Perhaps we should enter this as an exhibit, Mr. Chair.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Schuch.

     MR. SCHUCH:   I would call this Exhibit U1.1, and the title will be compendium of documents submitted by the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition for use in the oral hearing on the procedural matters dealing with the application dated September 19, 2005.  

EXHIBIT NO. U1.1:  COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED BY THE VULNERABLE ENERGY CONSUMERS COALITION FOR USE IN THE ORAL HEARING ON THE PROCEDURAL MATTERS DEALING WITH THE APPLICATION DATED SEPTEMBER 19, 2005

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Schuch.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

     The two figures I just referred the Board to can be found at page 2 -- I apologize.  The page numbers were crossed out or didn't appear on the copy because of the photocopying, but it's the second page -- third page in, my page 2.  The company -- beginning at the previous page:

“$100 million deficiency relates a delivery 

related deficiency of approximately 110 million 

offset by a gas-cost sufficiency.”

     The decision of the Board, the extract from the decision of the Board is found on the next page under paragraph 12 - it's the second-last sentence of the first paragraph - which says: 

“The corresponding delivery related sufficiency 

is therefore 1.485 million.”

     On the next page of that compendium is an extract from the RP-1999-0017 decision.  It's a summary of Board adjustments of delivery revenue.  On the second -- bottom of the second column, under Board adjustment, we see that Union's application was $846 million, and that was reduced by $29 million by the Board.  

     On the next page is an extract from RP-2003-0063.  There we see that under EBRO-499 the Board approved Union's capital budget of $271,567,000, Board-approved.  And the actual amount spent was $221 million, $50 million less than the Board approved.  

     We see in that table that Union had over-budgeted in all categories:  Storage, transmission, distribution and general.  

     If we turn to the evidence in the current submission, 

Exhibit A, tab 2, page 27, in figure 7 we see the Board approved capital expenditures for 2004 of $168 million, and the actual was $146 million.  Again, we see in every category that Union had over-budgeted.  

     If we look at the third line of figure 7, under the distribution row, you see an increase in that capital expenditure item from 59 million, 2004 to a estimated $109 million 2006, which is an 84 percent increase.
     At page 10 of the same tab, --

     MR. PENNY:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, we're having trouble following where we are in the evidence.  Could I ask for clarification of where these sheets are, again, please.  I missed the reference at the beginning.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I believe we're in Exhibit A, tab 2.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  That's correct.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And we're now at page 10, is that right, Mr. DeVellis?
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  I was going to make a comparison from between page 27 and page 10, so perhaps it would be best to hold both pages open.
     My point was to contrast the projected increase in the distribution capital expenditure of the 84 percent increase for 2004 to 2006, to the last sentence on page 10 of the same exhibit where the company says that their customer growth will be increasing an average of 2 percent per year.
     So despite the fact that the customer growth is fairly limited, according to the company, their capital expenditure, with respect to distribution -- which as I understand it is mainly for customer growth -- is increasing by 84 percent over two years.
     Mr. Chair, it our view you cannot consider an indexing formula without a more vigorous analysis of the base year.  For example, we note there has been no variance analysis of the capital budget to explain the large increases that I've just referred to.  No summary of the projects that the company is relying on to explain this revenue deficiency.
     With respect to the indexing, I agree with Mr. Thompson that the -- if the Board is inclined to go that route, that we should be looking at the GDPPI less an adjustment for the input price differential.  I would also point out that the CPI, we don't agree it should be used.  But if it is, it should only be applied to the O&M budgets, not the cost of capital or the ROE.
     As we have seen, the ROE could be declining and cost of debt could be declining even though we have positive inflation.
     Finally, Mr. Chair, with respect to the proposed earnings-sharing.  It is our view that if the revenue requirement is set too high then a 50 percent earnings sharing does not adequately protect consumers, because in that case the consumers would only be getting back 50 percent of an amount that is already too high.  So we agree with others, that if there is going to be earnings sharing, it should be 100 percent in order to affect consumers. 

Those are our submissions.  Thank you, Mr. Chair      MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Thank you.  Mr. Amy.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. AMY:
MR. AMY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Miss DeMarco has requested that I read the following statements of the transcript on behalf of Superior.
     Superior's general position is that the material provided by Union in its application does not form a sufficient evidentiary base to support the requested rate change.  Superior does not take a position on the second question asked by the Board in its notice of application, except to note that the outcome of this hearing may have implications for the utilities base rates going into the Board's NGF proceedings on incentive rate base.
     Thank you.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Amy.

Mr. Jackson.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. JACKSON:
     MR. JACKSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
     We understand as a time difficulty in which Union Gas finds itself for setting rates for 2006.  Our submissions do keep this in mind.
     LIEN can support what Mr. Warren has said about the Board's ability to simply dismiss this application for a rate increase, but it believes that an order to dismiss should have conditions attached, such as, for example, particulars about earnings-sharing, the encouragement of Union to get on with its commitments with respect to DSM, that fuel sharing is a matter for discussion and possible resolution under that same process, not as part of the DSM discussion per se, but as part of the overall process under which DSM is being discussed.  And lastly, I would tag on that LIEN be admitted to that separate process as LIEN has been, I think, contributing more and more recently and LIEN is a relatively new organization.
     I might mention that Judy Simon, who is well known to the Board, would be participating in that.  So I trust the Board will find that that would be appropriate.
     Now, such an outright dismissal would leave on the table for Union the rate of return dollars from changes in capital costs.  For example, the 66 or so basis points on the ROE, if the Board were to reapply its formula in any other process and the reduced cost of debt from refinancings in a period of low interest rates.
     Or alternatively, it would leave on the table ample dollars to cover increases in any operating costs.
     LIEN is, however, concerned that this process may continue to explore indexing and, hence, it has decided to support the submissions of Mr. Thompson.  If that is the alternative, if you like, that we fear is going to come out of this, that this will go on and that there will be more filings and that Mr. Thompson has a very practical approach.
     Now, some perhaps more general comments.  LIEN accepts that utility rates can be changed pursuant to the behaviour of some index or, for that matter, that alternatively, rates may be left unchanged for some period of time.  Provided, though, that there is an appropriate publicly-available financial and service-level information for scrutiny of interested parties, and provided that there is no compelling need to redesign service-class rates.
     In LIEN's view, any formula used to change rates would have to be tested and approved by the Board.  The Board's existing formula for its PBR process might be a way to go forward for one more year, 2006, but in LIEN's view the current relevance of the formula should be examined for its continued reasonableness.
     LIEN's not taking a position on how far that examination might go, but the Board would have to be satisfied that it was still relevant.
     So we prefer to the need for appropriate publicly available financial and service level information, so what would that be?  In LIEN's view a set of actual financial information should be made available for utility operations for annual periods following the last base year on which rates were approved.  If this is not being done, LIEN would urge that it, at least, start now.  For my part, I haven't had time to review all of the information which could be in the Board's public records area.
     As well as that, the utility may, and most probably would, choose to present normalized versions of such data in order to justify that its rates are low or not too high.  But the Board and utility ratepayers should at least be able to examine actual, annual data for the utility, and this would apply, we are saying, even for an intermediate period in a several-year period of approved rates, such as for a PBR program.  

     We say it should not be onerous for a utility the size of Union Gas to fulfil these requirements, given computerized production of reports, and where appropriate, using allocation methods adopted in a previous rate proceeding.  And given the ability to provide such reports in electronic form would cut down on the amount of paper that Union had to distribute to all interested parties.  

     And I guess underlying that we ask how the Board, or anyone else, could know whether a formula or index based on some cost data is working if this information is not made available.  Not that it necessarily be tested in the fullness that it might be tested for determining a base year for a several-year program, but available.  

     And LIEN would add that it believes it is very important for the forecast of volumes of service to be carefully tested.  Union says 2006 volumes will decrease.  Without having gathered full evidence on our part, we may suspect that Union's forecast is low.  

     Now, if I could comment with respect to timeliness and form of information.  In LIEN's view, information filed by Union with the Board in respect of a rates application or proceeding, including this one, should be made available in a timely manner and electronically, at least in PDF file format on the Board's website or by linkage to the applicant’s website.  Updates to such information made available during the oral hearing should be made available electronically at or before the same time as hard copies may be distributed in the oral hearing.  To do otherwise is to make extra work for some intervenors and put others, with limited resources, at a significant disadvantage.  

     In our view, the applicant clearly may benefit from this.  Similarly, in LIEN's view, it would be helpful if all communications released by the Board could be made available electronically on the Board's website, at or before the time they are released elsewhere.  And this may, in fact, be done but I -- but in my experience, I've not been able to find things like the notice of application on the Board's website.  

     Now to a few specific comments.  LIEN supports the view of other intervenors that the evidence is insufficient to test the appropriateness of Union's utility rates.  Given the evidence which Union has filed, we cannot support change in rates on the basis of an index either.  However, as I said, if the application stands, LIEN supports the submissions of Mr. Thompson.  

     Further, if the Board were to decide that Union has insufficient time to go through a full rate case for 2005 and yet the Board finds that rates should be changed, LIEN would urge the Board not to adjust Union's revenue requirement for specific new costs forecasted by Union, such as those Union has put forward as arising from retirements.  As mentioned by at least one other, we think that there is no reason to assume that there are not costs that are going down as well.  There is evidence referred to, for example, that all of Duke Energy would see some cost reduction as a result of one of its recent mergers.  

     If rate changes for cost increases are to be considered, then the process should be fully opened to examine all of Union's costs, and LIEN notes that this would be very time consuming.  

     Even in a -- excuse me.  I think that point has been made by others, so I am going to skip that, with respect to the specifics of earnings sharing.  Let me just go, then, briefly to a couple of concluding comments with respect to DSM.  

     We understand that DSM, and its arguably related matters such as fuel switching, will be addressed in a separate process.  We're sort of trusting that, because we have not heard any objections to that from Union, adding fuel switching to the discussion and the matters to be decided upon.  

     LIEN intends to participate, and as I said earlier I am aware of no objections.  We have spoken with Mr. Packer in the presence of Mr. Leslie, and Mr. Packer has told me, effectively, that this should be fine.  However, we did want to inform the Board on the record of LIEN's intention to participate fully in these DSM and related matters processes, and have taken this opportunity to do so.  

     LIEN furthermore submits that it is in support of the submissions of Mr. Gibbons of Pollution Probe.  Then finally, Mr. Chairman, I can say that these are LIEN's submissions in argument.  Thank you very much for your patience 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Jackson.  

     Mr. Aiken.  

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. AIKEN:

     MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Sommerville.  

     My submission is a joint submission between the London Property Management Association and the Wholesale Gas Service Purchasers Group.  Further, my submissions are focussed on the Board's request for comments on potential options for indexing existing rates for 2006.  

     It is our submission that any potential options for indexing existing rates face three hurdles.  First, would rates be just and reasonable if existing rates are simply indexed without taking into consideration that both existing rates resulted in earnings above the approved return on equity in 2004 and are projected to earn Union a revenue excess in 2005, as indicated by their evidence at Exhibit A, tab 2, appendix A, schedule 9, which we have looked at previously?  Further this projected over-earning in 2005 is not small.  Based on earnings-sharing amount shown in Exhibit A, tab 2 appendix A, schedule 1, it’s $7.2 million.  This appears to be the ratepayers share.  The actual excess earnings would be approximately double that, or $14.4 million in 2005.  

     Second, what adjustment to base rates need to be done before any indexing is applied to them?  We've heard previously that the next step in the elimination of the delivery commitment credit or DCC is scheduled for January 1st, 2006.  The DCC is recovered in distribution rates from different rate classes at different rates.  LPMA and the Group believe that the savings, which we believe are about $6 to $7 million a year, resulting from the next step in the DCC elimination need to be reflected in each of the affected rates before any indexing mechanism is applied.    

     Similarly, as noted earlier, existing rates are providing a revenue excess of more than $14 million in 2005.  It is submitted that rates should also be adjusted to remove this over-earning before any index is applied.  Otherwise the over-earning would be left in rates and then increased.
     Third, any options for indexing rates for Union would need to be supported by evidence to support the methodology.  To date, no such evidence has been provided by the applicant and no responding evidence has been provided by intervenors.  Without this, to paraphrase the Board's first question, there would not be a sufficient evidentiary base from which to evaluate the proposed change in rates.
     In our view such a process would take time for evidence to be filed, interrogatories asked and answered, responding evidence to be filed, and interrogatories asked and answered on that responding evidence.
     Turning specifically to Union's submission of September 15th, Union proposed an indexing factor tied to the Ontario CPI.  I have a number of comments related to Union's proposal in general.
     Union's proposal relies on a number of statements based on its filed material, including its projected increases related to salaries and wages, pensions and benefits, capital investments, and the work force development and enhancement initiatives to justify its indexing proposal.  These quote unquote “higher costs" exceed the rate of inflation proposed by Union.

     In all due respect, this takes us back to the Board's first question:  If the material filed by Union does not form a sufficient evidentiary basis from which to evaluate the company's revenue requirement for 2006, how can a subset of that material form a sufficient evidentiary basis to determine an indexing amount?
     Clearly these statements and the related filed material will need to be tested through an interrogatory cross-examination process before any weight can be given to them.  Similar questions can and will be asked related to Union's statements about a 1 percent productivity gain incorporated into Union's 2006 O&M expense and the effects of lower revenues.  None of these assertions have been tested.
     Moreover, Union is practising the age-old art of telling only the part of the story that it wants told.  Union's part of the story deals with a large increase in the O&M costs.  However, even if these costs increases are to be believed, O&M costs represent only about 36 percent of the overall revenue requirement.  The cost of capital represents approximately 33 percent of the overall revenue requirement.  Now Union's evidence suggests an increase in this cost - that being the cost to capital - because of the aggressive capital expenditures in 2005 and 2006 that will increase rate base.
     And this is reference to that Exhibit A, tab 2, page 27.
     The capital expenditure forecast for 2005 is an increase of 45 percent over the actual 2004 level and the increase in 2006 is an increase of more than 160 percent.  However, Union's track record on capital expenditures is nothing to write home about.  And Mr. DeVellis went into this.  The 2004 expenditures were 13 percent or nearly $22 million lower than the Board-approved figures built into rates in 2004.
     Overforecasting capital expenditures increases rate base and allows Union to justify a higher cost of capital.  It also provides a justification for an increase in the depreciation and amortization costs, which represent about 19 percent of the total revenue requirement.  When these capital expenditures do not occur, the actual depreciation expense is significantly lower than the "forecast" as is the cost of capital.
     Again, any forecasted increase in depreciation and amortization expense is linked to a thorough review of capital expenditures.  Back on the issue of cost of capital, Union does not tell the part of the story where long-term interest rates have fallen dramatically from the levels used to set the 2004 rates.
     The forecasted yields on 30-year Government of Canada bonds have fallen by nearly 100 basis points over this period.  Given the forecast capital additions in 2005 and 2006, Union's overall cost of debt could decrease on a weighted average basis as it obtains replacement and/or new financing at rates substantially lower than those in its embedded average cost of debt.  Union provides no evidence on this topic.
     Here is a big part of the story that is missing from Union.  And we have touched upon this with previous submissions.  Based on the latest consensus forecast of August 2005, Union's return on equity would fall to approximately 8.92 percent, a reduction of 70 basis points from the rate of 9.62 percent currently embedded in rates.  This translates into a reduction of approximately $12.6 million in Union's revenue requirement.

     Other parts of the story are missing as well.  The federal capital tax rate for 2006 is only about 50 percent of the rate that was applicable for 2004.  Union makes no mention of this reduction in cost.  Similarly, no mention is made about income taxes.  While there are no tax rate changes between 2004 and 2006, there is a substantial change related to capital cost allowance rates used for income tax deduction purposes.  In particular, the C.C.A. rate associated with oil and gas transmission pipelines doubled from four percent to eight percent as a result of the February 2005 federal budget, and this change was matched by the most recent provincial budget.
     Given the high level of pipeline-related capital expenditures forecast for both 2005 and 2006, the increase in the C.C.A. rate will increase deductions substantially and result in reduced income taxes.  Income property and capital taxes make up about 12 percent of the overall revenue requirement.

     I'm now moving on to the Ontario CPI that Union proposes to use.
     It is submitted that this index, that being the Ontario consumer price index is not an appropriate index to use as a basis for a change in rates.  The CPI measures changes in the mix of consumer products, not the mix of goods and services used by a utility.
     LPMA and the Group submit that the use of the gross domestic product price increase, GDPPI is an appropriate measure of inflation as it represents an economy-wide index that is representative of the trend in input costs external to the utility in that it is not influenced by the company's actions.  It’s stable, readily available and understood by customers and is widely accepted in other jurisdictions for PPI.  Further, it is submitted the use of the GDPPI better reflects a mix of good and services used by a utility than does the mix of consumer products represented by the CPI.
     Not only is this a submission of LPMA and the Group, it is also the point of being presented by Union in RP-1999-0017.  This is evident in Mr. Birmingham's evidence in-chief in that proceeding, where he is describing the price cap plan proposed by Union.  He states and this is at volume 1, of the transcript, page 19:

“The first factor is a forecasted inflation over the five-year term.  Union has used the Canadian Gross Domestic Product Price Index or GDPPI as the inflation index.  We chose GDPPI as it is well accepted for the purpose of PBR plans and best reflects the types of good and services used by Union.”

     In fact, in their argument in-chief, and this is at volume 20, page 3542, Union states that:

“GDPPI represents, in our submission, an economy-wide index that is representative of the trend in input costs external to the company in that it is not influenced by the company's actions.  It’s stable, readily available and understood by customers and widely accepted for PBR and other jurisdictions.”

     Union then goes on to indicate in their argument in-chief that this choice of GDPPI was supported by the consultants, Christensen and Associates, as well as by Dr. Bower, an expert retained by an intervenor stating that and I quote, Dr. Bower says:

“GDPPI is a preferred choice of economy-wide indexing for the approximation of input-pricing inflation because it is the only public index that has meaningful relationships to industry- specific events.”

     If the Board is convinced that an indexing option is the most efficient way to arrive at just and reasonable rates, then LPMA and the Group suggest the use of the price cap mechanism, the Board approved for Union Gas as part of its PBR regime that applied in 2001 through 2003.
     This is the only indexing mechanism that the Board has applied to Union Gas and given that it applied to Union as recently as 2003, it would not be necessary, in our submission, to revisit the theory behind it, especially given its limited use for 2006 only.  

     The price-cap index approved by the Board in RP-1999-0017 for specifying annual rate changes is I minus X, where I represents annual inflation and X is the input price differential plus a productivity offset.  

     In the RP-1999-0017 decision the Board found that a productivity offset, or the stretch productivity factor, was 1.4 percent.  The Board also found an input price differential of minus 1.1 percent, yielding an X factor of 2.5 percent.  Mr. Thompson made reference to this earlier today.  

     With regard to the annual inflation factor of I, the Board found that the actual Canadian chain gross domestic product index as published by Statistics Canada should be used in determining the annual inflation escalator.  That's on page 80 of the 0017 Board decision.  

     In the RP-2001-0029 decision with reasons, the Board provided further clarification of the data used in estimating the inflation escalator.  Specifically, the Board found it appropriate to use a comparison of the actual inflation figures, year over year, for the second quarter as it is published and available at the time the customer review process decision is made for the succeeding year.  That meant that Statistics Canada revisions to the second quarter figures may be used, if they are available at the time of the decision.  

     Now, applying that methodology today, the inflation escalator for 2006 would thus be based on the increase in the price index in the GDPPI in the second quarter of 2005 over the second quarter of 2004.  This figure is available from Statistics Canada, and is 2.2 percent.  Again, this is the 2.2 percent referred to by Mr. Thompson.  

     The resulting price cap is then an inflation escalator of 2.2 percent, less the overall productivity factor of 2.5 percent, yielding a price cap of negative 0.3 percent.  

     For comparison purposes, the price caps set using this formula over Union's PBR term were 1.4 percent in 2001, negative 0.5 percent in 2002, and negative 2.3 percent in 2003.  

     I'm now turning to the area of earnings-sharing as it would apply to the indexing.  If the Board were to adopt the price-cap index as described above, that proposed by Union or some other indexing mechanism, LPMA and the Group have concerns about the proposed earnings-sharing mechanism.  

    First, the return on equity at which any earnings-sharing should begin should be based on the most recent consensus forecast available that would have been used if rates were being set prospectively for 2006.  This basically means the October 2005 consensus forecast.  This is the same methodology as that approved by the Board for the 2005 sharing.  

     The normalization methodology and the degree-days to which revenues are normalized should also not change.  Any 

under-earnings should be 100 percent to the shareholder, as they are in 2005.  However, LPMA and the Group do not believe that the 50/50 sharing between ratepayers and the shareholder as approved for 2005 for excess earnings would be appropriate for 2006.  

     Existing rates include a return on equity of 9.62 percent as set in the 2005 rate.  If the ROE for 2006 sharing purposes is substantially lower than that then, all else being equal, Union could end up over-earning simply because of the embedded ROE in existing rates.  In such a case, Union would keep 50 percent of this excess earning.  

     As I noted early, based on the latest consensus forecast, Union's return on equity would fall to approximately 8.92 percent, a reduction of 70 basis points from that currently imbedded in rates.  

     The significant difference in the return on equity between that embedded in existing rates and that used for earnings-sharing purposes was not an issue in 2005.  The embedded rate was 9.62 percent and the earnings-sharing figure was 9.63 percent, a one basis point difference.  Given the closeness of these figures, the potential for Union to gain from retaining 50 percent of any over-earnings related to the return on equity embedded in the rates that were frozen was limited.  The same cannot, however, be said of the current situation with a significant decline in long-term bond rates and the corresponding decrease in the return on equity for 2006.  

     LPMA and the Group believe that in such circumstances the only reasonable sharing for excess earnings would be for 100 percent of the excess earnings to accrue to ratepayers.  To provide Union with any percentage of any excess earnings generated under an indexing mechanism that does not adjust the base rates for a significant decline in the return on equity denies the reduction that would accrue in full to ratepayers if a lower return on equity were reflected in the cost-of-service application.  

     Finally, on procedural matters, we support the submissions of Mr. Shepherd with regard to the process.  The normal regulatory process should be followed.  This includes interrogatories, intervenor evidence, settlement conference or an oral hearing.  

     Those are my submissions.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.  

     Sir from Kitchener, I'm afraid I haven't got your name. 

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  Yes, it is Jim Gruenbauer, Mr. Chairman.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  I’m manager of regulatory affairs and supply for Kitchener Utilities, the City of Kitchener.  

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. GRUENBAUER:

     MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to make submissions.  

     In response to the Board's first question, our position is that the evidence and documents filed to date by Union in support of its request for rate relief in 2006 are not sufficient to permit the Board to reasonably determine whether granting that relief will result in just and reasonable rates for ratepayers, including the City of Kitchener.  

     What is needed to close that evidentiary gap remains to be seen, but we respectfully submit that an accelerated and focussed written interrogatory and response process is a good place to start, and could be followed by an oral hearing where parties can augment and test the record via examination and cross-examination if further efforts by the parties to reach a settlement are unsuccessful, as they were yesterday.  All of which, of course, is subject to the Board's oversight of the process via issuance of procedural orders and other guidance.  

     I take note of your comments this morning, Mr. Chairman, with respect to timing and practicality.  Time is of the essence and we understand that, but the press of time should not be a loophole.  It should not present or be seen to present the opportunity to, in effect, ram a change through with less than due consideration, given the materiality of that change on ratepayers.  

     Mr. Shepherd has spoken to the issue of materiality, and we agree with him.  

     As I understand it, Mr. Chairman, Kitchener has spoken in past regulatory proceedings to information asymmetries.  When they exist, those asymmetries present a real challenge to the involved parties.  In the interest of fairness, information asymmetry should not be exploited by some parties to the detriment of others.  We respectfully submit that the current state of the record in these proceedings is asymmetrical.  That imbalance should be appropriately addressed, but I would submit the information gap can be closed fairly quickly with the disciplined cooperation of the parties.  

     In response to the Board's second question, absent more compelling evidence by Union of its needs for delivery rate increase in 2006, our position at this time is that no adjustments are required to existing rates, other than to implement the next step of the DCC elimination and to eliminate the extent to which the current rates yield over-earnings in 2005 and to reflect the appropriate targeted ROE for 2006.  As Mr. Thompson has described "the base" appears to be too high, and we agree with those submissions.  

     The Board is seeking comment on potential options for indexing existing rates for 2006.  Union has put forward an alternative proposal in its written submissions dated September 15th, 2005, which it characterizes as an indexed approach linked to inflation.  We won't repeat the submissions of other parties that speak to the flaws in Union's approach, in particular, my friend, Mr. Aiken.  We simply agree that the approach is flawed.  But to be fair, there would appear to be flaws in any indexing approach because, among other things, reasonable people can differ in their view of how well or poorly a particular macro index serves as a proxy for economic behaviour at the micro or firm level.  

     In this case, the index serves as a proxy for expected changes in Union's costs to provide delivery service to ratepayers.  Is there a perfect index which can be applied in these circumstances?  Probably not.  But some options are better than others, and as my mentor from my Consumers Gas days, Jim Hamilton was fond of saying options are good.  So if the Board is inclined to employ an indexed approach to adjust existing rates, then we respectfully submit that the approach be modelled after the PBR price cap approved for Union in 2001 to 2003.  That approach has been tested; it seemed to work reasonably well.  And with the full cost-of-service rate application and review pending for 2007, to be followed by a longer term incentive regulation regime as currently contemplated by the Natural Gas Forum, adoption of the former PBR price-cap mechanism would be limited to a single year, 2006, as Mr. Aiken has pointed out.
     As a starting point, however, the existing delivery rates need to be adjusted in 2006 to implement the next step of the DCC elimination, to eliminate the extent to which current rates yield over earnings in 2005 and to reflect the appropriate targeted ROE for 2006.
     Those adjustments to the base rates are required regardless of any indexing mechanism that might be used, whether it be Ontario CPI less than an unspecified productivity factor, or GDPPI less X, or some other mechanism.  

Those are our submissions on these procedural matters.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Members of the Board.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Gruending.  

Yes, Mr. MacIntosh.  

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MacINTOSH:

MR. MacINTOSH:  Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel, David MacIntosh on behalf of Energy Probe.
     In response to question number 1, assuming that the Board attempts to apply a formulaic rates adjustment for 2006, Energy Probe suggests that, at a minimum, the applicant should produce an updated return on equity calculation to be used to determine the deficiency for 2006.
     In general, Energy Probe supports Mr. Thompson's submissions this morning on adjusting the 2005 base rates prior to applying an adjustment factor to determine 2006 rates.
     In response to question number 2, if a formulaic approach were used to adjust rates for 2006, Union's proposal would load all of the recovery on volumetric charges.  In recent years, the Board moved to increase the fraction of fixed costs recovered in fixed charges.  Although not universally liked, there are many good reasons to justify this approach.
     Applying a formulaic approach should not be an occasion to move away from the Board's rate design directions.  Therefore, if any increase is allowed, Energy Probe suggests that it should be applied to both fixed and variable charges.
      As for the process, Energy Probe supports the expedited process utilized in RP-2003-0048, Enbridge's 2004 rates case, including interrogatories and cross- examination.
     While we have no philosophical objection to a formulaic approach, outside of PBR, to fixing rates for a one-year period if followed by a cost-of-service hearing the following year, we feel that Union must file sufficient evidence to clearly justify an increase, which at this point we have not seen.
     In closing, Mr. Chair, Energy Probe supports the submissions of Mr. Aiken this afternoon.  

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  

Are there any other submissions?  Oh, I beg your pardon, Mr. Scully.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SCULLY:
     MR. SCULLY:  I'm here beside the applicant.  Peter Scully on behalf of The Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities, and the cities of Greater Sudbury and Timmins.

First, on the question of other approaches to indexing that might be applied, our assessment of what we have heard to date is that it would seem that the previously used PBR indexing might be more appropriate for these circumstances.  Our concern is, just how it would get properly introduced before the Board so the Board can make a determination on it.  We have an applicant who has told us that they are going to re-file, as an application, their answer to your second question, namely, that they're going to do with the CPI index.
     I certainly thought Mr. Aiken had a good go this morning, just a few minutes ago, outlining exactly how the PBR would apply.  But we have some concerns about how that actually gets on the record, or how any other index does get presented to you.  

In that context, I would urge that in the proceeding you allow sufficient time for interrogatories to test Union's existing financial information which they have filed, as they have indicated that remains on the record and stands there as, on their part, a persuasive force about how much they may be lacking in revenues.  But the period has to, I suggest to you, allow sufficient time for parties to test whether they want to present alternate evidence on indexing.
     Again, on procedure and what evidence we may see, as I understood Union's position, they have told us that we're going to see very little more than what we have already seen.  But from our perspective, it would be most helpful if we saw something similar to their current appendix C, which outlines what impact on various customer classes there would be from their proposed increase.  If they could restate that in terms of their proposed 2 percent or 2.1 percent increase so that we could determine just what the effect on our customer base would be.
     Those are the only points I wish to address, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you, Board Members.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Penny, I think, it's your time for reply.

REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. PENNY:
     MR. PENNY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
     Many of the arguments you have heard today address the merits of Union's proposal, alternative proposal, that is to say, why Union's indexing proposal should not find favour with the Board.  I frankly do not propose to respond to these submissions, as it seems to me that today is not the day to address the merits.
     I will endeavour, rather, to focus on the arguments of those parties who dealt with threshold issues, about whether the Board should make orders on what evidence should -- the evidence should look like, or indeed, as Mr. Warren submitted, whether Union should be able to try to seek this alternative relief at all, which does seem to me to be appropriate for dealing with today.
     I am also telling you a bit about what I'm not going to respond to first, but I’m also -- you heard several arguments about the history of how Union came to where it is today and how it came to the conclusion it was facing a significant revenue deficiency.  I am not proposing to respond to those arguments.  We are where we are and Union is simply at this point looking for an efficient solution to what it views as a significant risk.
     So, then, turning to the substantive issues that I want to address on my reply.  Mr. Thompson and Mr. Warren both characterized what we proposed this morning as withdrawing our current application.  That, of course, is not correct, as I think, Mr. Chair, you and the Board Members understood this morning.  What I said was we were going to amend our application to provide, as an alternative ground of relief, the indexing proposal.
     And we are not, frankly – unless, I am advised otherwise - seeking leave to amend.  I did look at the Board rules last night.  I don't believe that there is a requirement for leave to amend an application, although if I am wrong, I would stand corrected on that.  But certainly, coming more to the point of substance, I think, of Mr. Thompson's submission, he wasn't relying on the technical issue, he was relying, I think, upon the proposition that Union is asking for conditions as part of the amendment.  And I simply say to that, we're not asking you to consider any conditions at all, it is Mr. Thompson who wants you to impose conditions.  

     And I would say, in my submission, it is a highly unusual step and somewhat without precedent that an applicant is supposed to file evidence to address an argument that an intervenor wants to address.  That, I thought, was the purpose of the interrogatory process rather than directions about what the threshold evidence would be.

     Union takes the position that its application is and will be supported by evidence, and if Mr. Thompson, or any other intervenor for that matter, believes at the end of the day that that evidence is insufficient, they can argue that Union has not met its burden.  And in my submission, that is the beginning and the end of the matter on that point.  

     In a similar vein, Mr. Thompson had a number of submissions about the question of ROE and the changing -- and the potential changes to the ROE as a result of the application of the Board formula based on the -- what would actually be the October forecast, which we, of course, don't have yet.  So that submission, again, in my submission, largely goes to the merits.  So I don't propose to respond to the substantive issue, that would be something that would have to be dealt with in due course in the course of the application that we have brought.  But I would, though, say as an aside that certainly, with respect to over-earnings in 2005, that was an issue that was addressed by the Board in our last proceeding and the Board imposed an earnings-sharing mechanism to deal with that very issue.  So that has been before the Board and resolved.  

     As I understood Mr. Thompson's submission though, on the process issue, to be that the Board should require Union to address the issue of adjusting the base in its evidence.  And I would say to that that the proposal does address the base and the base is 2005 rates.  

     Mr. Thompson may not like our proposed approach, but that's the approach we have taken.  And the intervenors, Mr. Thompson and others, will be free to challenge Union's approach and to propose their own approach in due course, in the process.  

     So again, the suggestion that Union must be directed to address an issue in its evidence is, in my submission, misplaced and really has nothing to do with the intervenor rights to either get information or to challenge information that Union puts forward.  

     The same is, in effect, the case for the 2006 ROE.  The benchmark under the Board formula for earnings sharing in 2006 will be what it will be, based on the October consensus.  And in my submission, there is no use speculating now about whether it will be lower than what is in existing rates, because we're ahead of the game.  It's August and we're talking about something that won't happen until October.  

     Again, in terms of directing Union to file evidence on this issue, Union has filed evidence on this issue.  It's proposing an earnings-sharing mechanism to deal with the potential for, unlikely as it may seem to us, the potential for over-earning in 2006.  So there is a proposal on the table before the Board.  There is evidence in that respect and it's, of course, open to customers to propose different or additional mechanisms for customer protection.  

     With respect to -- in the same vein, I have responding submissions with respect to the factor that was used, the indexing factor that was used under the trial PBR plan.  That was something -- well, let me put it this way.  Something that was developed, in my submission, in a particular unique circumstance over five years ago, that hasn't even been used for two years, could not possibly be applied today mechanically, as Mr. Thompson seems to suggest, with any reasonable expectation of fairness.  And it is, in some respects, in my submission, a preposterous suggestion that we would do that.

     We have departed from the PBR model and already gone through a major cost-of-service hearing and then a subsequent year with follow-on adjustments to rates.  We have clearly departed from the earnings-sharing mechanism that was employed in the PBR period, because that was a symmetrical earnings-sharing mechanism based on a different calculation of earnings.  So to that extent, Mr. Thompson is cherry picking when he talks about using factors from the PBR period.  

     Just by way of example, one hopes one learns by mistakes and responding to Mr. Thompson and to Mr. Aiken for that matter, we discovered, Mr. Sommerville you may recall, during the course of the customer review processes that followed the initial -- that followed the initial PBR process, that the GDPPI had flaws of its own.  Indeed, one of them was that it was changed after the fact based on updated evidence, and that created all kinds of problems about whether to use the updated number or not when you already used the non-updated number for half of the calculation.   

     We also heard evidence at one stage from Mr. Wilson, who was a professor of economics at the University of Toronto, saying that GDPPI was flawed because it was skewed by energy exports, which of course has nothing to do with what consumers pay in Ontario or in Canada.  

     The Enbridge 2004 case is more recent and it used the Ontario CPI.  So, in my submission, I turn Mr. Thompson's argument around on its head.  He said you should direct Union to file evidence on why it is not using the PBR formula that was developed in 1999, and I say the reverse.  That if Mr. Thompson wants the Board to adopt a PBR index from five years ago that hasn't been used since 2003, it is surely up to him to explain why it should be used, not over to our camp to explain why we are not using it.  

      In any event, this is principally all related to the merits of Union's proposal and the ultimate arguments on whether it should succeed, and should not, in my respectful submission, be viewed as a condition of permitting Union to apply for something at all.  

     Mr. Warren's essential argument was that Union has not filed any prima facie evidence that a rate adjustment is needed at all.  And that, again in my submission, is an argument that Mr. Warren should be making at the end of the case, not at the beginning.  One of Union's burdens in any application as the applicant, or indeed any applicant's burden, whether it be the utility or someone else in a proceeding before this Board, is to prove that what they're seeking is required.  The applicant has the burden of proof.  And if we don't meet that burden of proof, we will not succeed.  If we meet the burden of proof, then we may.  Today is not the time to be talking about whether Union has met its burden.  

     Secondly, Union has, of course, as I alluded to this morning, filed evidence on the need for a rate increase.  Now, the parties may not accept it and, of course, at this stage of the game it hasn't been subject to cross-examination, but that's always true at the beginning of an application, but it is evidence and it is evidence of a forecast revenue deficiency, to the extent of some $43 million.  So it is just not possible for the submission to be made that there is no evidence of a need for a rate increase.  At this stage of the game there is at least prima facie evidence of the need.  

     Third, I would submit that there was an undercurrent in many of the submissions you heard that Enbridge somehow filed a lot more material and that Union has filed none.  And I simply submit to you that if you look at the Enbridge record and leave aside the interrogatories and the settlement agreement, and leave aside those components of their submission that related to other issues that were unrelated to indexing, such as their DSM plan or their clearing of deferral accounts and so on, that their evidence isn't much different in length on the issue of the index-based adjustment factor than Union's is.  

     Most importantly, in my submission, EGD never filed a forecast, and Union has.  And that is an important distinction.  So the intervenors' submissions that Union has somehow filed no evidence and did not fulfil the same obligations that Enbridge did, in my respectful submission, is both wrong and without merit.  

     Mr. Dingwall's submissions, in my view, were entirely on the merits of Union's application, so I don't propose to respond to them, other than to say that -- that the Duke merger that he spoke about, was driven by synergies on the electricity side of the business, which has nothing to do with Union.  So the reason that there is no evidence and no evidence contemplated on this issue is because Union doesn't file evidence on things that it believes have no material impact on it.  

     Mr. Shepherd's submissions were essentially on the merits of Union's proposed amended application as well, so again, I don't propose to respond to them today.  We will leave that to another day.  

     He did suggest, however, that Union's conduct reflects a lack of respect for the Board and its processes, and I want to urge you to disregard that submission and disregard these ad hominem and speculative remarks.  Union has utmost respect for the Board and its processes, and we believe this has been demonstrated by a long history over many decades of interaction with this Board.  Union has been faced with a unique set of circumstances and, as I said before, is simply trying to find the most appropriate and fair solution to a problem.  

     With respect to DSM, Mr. Chairman, and the 2006/2008 plan, Union does intend to fulfil the commitments that it made to intervenors.  The schedule, which was not part of its explicit commitment but was nevertheless represented as the intention, was to file by the end of September.  That unfortunately, due to circumstances, has shifted by one month, but Union is committed to filing the plan by October 31st, 2005.  And all efforts are directed towards that and making sure that that happens.  

     This application, frankly, has nothing to do with DSM and there will be, as the parties know, and which has always been intention, a separate proceeding to deal with that.  So in my submission, it is simply not necessary in this context for the Board to order any issues -- or any directions or orders -- make any orders about DSM at all.  

     The same holds true for Mr. Poch's and Mr. Gibbons' concern about fuel switching.  Intervenors who want to advance or, indeed, oppose the inclusion of fuel switching in DSM will be at liberty to do so in the DSM process, and Mr. Poch can quote me on this.  We may not agree with him about the merits, but we're not going to object to his right to raise the issue in the context of the DSM hearing.  So in my submission, there is no need for a Board order to be made on that issue.  

     Now, Mr. Gibbons has gone a little beyond that.  Mr. Gibbons says, Not only do we want what GEC wants, we want the Board to order that Union answer some questions about fuel switching.  In other words, file evidence, I suppose is what he means, on some questions that Mr. Klippenstein posed in a letter.  Again, in my submission, it's not necessary for the Board to make directions to Union, and it would be highly unusual for the Board to make directions to Union in this context at the very outset of something, about what it should and shouldn't be filing as part of its evidence.  These are obviously questions that can be posed in an interrogatory process if parties want to.  And given our position, which is that we're not going to object to fuel switching being discussed in the context of DSM, those questions will be answered.  

     So in my submission, again, it is really a question of:  Does the Board need to order this?  My submission is the Board doesn't need to order anything to do with DSM.  It will be done and parties' rights will be respected.  

     The arguments that Mr. DeVellis advanced were similarly, in my submission, focussed on the merits of the proposal rather than Union's right to bring it, so I will again not spend time arguing the case before it even starts.  But I would point out just one issue, which Mr. DeVellis developed which was he was trying to contrast residential growth rate with capital spending.  And, as I think became apparent from Mr. Aiken's submissions, the capital spending that we're talking about is, not exclusively, but is largely made up of Dawn-Trafalgar expansion.  So there is absolutely nothing to do with residential customer growth; it is Dawn-Trafalgar expansion.  

     That concludes my submissions in reply, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you very much.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Penny.  The Board will adjourn and provide guidance to the parties on these issues in due course and as soon as possible.  

     Thank you all very much for your very able submissions.  Thank you very much.  

     MR. PENNY:  Thank you.  

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:55 p.m. 
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